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By Angie Debo

Through most of the South the traveler is always aware of

the storied sites where Americans matched Americans in the most
calamitous of all our wars. But Oklahoma was in that conflict,
too; and while the great decisive battles were not fought on its

soil, no other area felt the war so much in terms of human tragedy.
Why then are its sites so largely unmarked and unregarded?

The events are familiar enough. As soon as the war started,
the United States abandoned the Indian Territory and the Confed-

eracy took over. The Five Civilized Tribes made alliances with the
new government, sent their representatives to its Congress, and
enlisted their citizens in its armies. But a considerable body of
conservative fullbloods refused to make the shift. They gathered
up their property and their families and assembled in a great camp
under the Creek leader, Opothle Yahola. Then, as they attempted
to move out, they were attacked by a Confederate force of Texans
and Indians. Two battles were undecisive, but in a third the Union
Indians were completely routed. They fled through a blizzard to
the protection of Union forces in Kansas, where they remained in
refugee camps, suffering indescribable privations until Federal
troops-including their own men-finally recaptured the Indian
Territory.

In contemporary records the first of these three battles-fought
on November 19, 1861-is designated as the Battle of Round Moun-
tains or the Battle of Red Fork. Twenty-two years later when the
War Department published the reports of the Confederate officers,
the editor grouped them under the title, "The Engagement at
Round Mountain."' One would like to establish the site; for it was
the first Civil War battle fought within the present state of Okla-
homa.

The white settlers that came to the present Yale vicinity in
the land rush of 1893 soon developed a tradition that it had been
fought on their soil. The "Twin Mounds'' west of Yale in Payne
County formed a conspicuous landmark, and at a place on Salt
Creek just north of the Pawnee County line the plow turned over
objects that could have been the debris of a battlefield and an
abandoned Indian camp. This evidence was sufficient to influence
Joseph B. Thoburn, the State's first historian. In his first history
of Oklahoma, a small volume prepared as a school text at state-

1 War of the Rebellion: Compilation of the Official Records of the Union and
lzfederate Armies (Washington, 1883), First Series, Vol. VIII, p. 4.
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hood, he located the battlefield as "Probably within the present
limits of Pawnee or Payne counties.' '2

Then in 1915 Annie Heloise Abel, drawing entirely on docu-
ments in Government archives, published the first of her three
great volumes on the Civil War in the Indian Territory. Here she
reproduced a map drawn by Special Indian Agent John T. Cog
and enclosed in a report he sent from Fort Gibson under date of
March 18, 1864. It was an excellent map, showing much more fa-
miliarity with the Indian Territory and military movements there
than the crude sketches that accompanied the War Department
publications.4 And it showed a careful tracing of Opothle Yahola's
route: a camp at the junction of the Deep Fork and the North
Canadian north of the present Eufaula; a trail, with camping
places marked, up the Deep Fork and then across the country to
the mouth of the Red Fork (Cimarron) ; and the "Battle of Red
Fork" (erroneously dated November 15) in the angle formed by
the confluence of the Cimarron and the Arkansas, north of the
present Keystone. This seemed to settle the location. Thoburn ac-
cepted it,5 and so did later historians: Muriel H. Wright,6 Grant
Foreman, 7 and the present writer.8 No doubt it would have re-
mained there except for the researches of a young real estate agent
in Stillwater. 9

2 Joseph B. Thoburn and Isaac M. Holcomb, A History of Oklahoma (San Fran-
cisco, 1908), p. 62 n. In a second edition of this text (Oklahoma City, 1914) a
location "within the present limits of Osage County" is probably a slip.

3 Annie Heloise Abel, The American Indian as Slaveholder and Secessionist
(Cleveland, 1915), p. 263.

4 War of the Rebellion, Atlas (Washington, 1891-95), Plates CXIX and CLX.
5 Joseph B. Thoburn, A Standard History of Oklahoma (New York, Chicago,

1916), I, 290.
6 Joseph B. Thoburn and Muriel H. Wright, Oklahoma: A History of the State

and its People (New York, 1929), I, p. 325.
7 Grant Foreman, A History of Oklahoma (Norman, 1945), pp. 105-6.8 Angie Debo, Tulsa: From Creek Town to Oil Capital (Norman, 1943), PP.

25-26.
9 The site of the "Battle of Round Mountain" fought in 1861, the first engage-

ment in the Indian Territory during the War between the States, is important in the
marking of historic sites now under way through the Historical Society's Committee
for Marking Historic Sites, of which Maj. Gen. Wm. S. Key is Chairman. The
exact site of this battle, though settled beyond supposed reasonable doubt with the
publication of the map by John T. Cox, in 1915, has always been one in question-
As mentioned above in footnote 2, by Doctor Debo, Joseph B. Thoburn was the first
among Oklahoma historians to point to its probable location, in 1908. John B
Meserve in his biography of "Chief Opothleyahola" mentioned the "indecision a5
to the precise location of this battlefield, whether near Yale or at a place aabut
a mile north of the present town of Keystone, in Pawnee County, Oklahoma," writing
in 1931 (see Chronicles of Oklahoma, Vol. IX, No. 4, p. 447). In the Indian Archiie
of the Historical Society, the file of John B. Meserve's original correspondence c9n
tains letters from James H. Hale, a pioneer citizen of Pawnee, dated 1931, stath
that he believed that Opothleyahola's route north to Kansas in 1861 followed
western trail known as the "Shawnee Trail," which would indicate the location
the "Battle of Round Mountain" farther west than the Keystone site.-Ed.
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As a dealer in farms John H. Melton had learned of the bat-
tlefield tradition, and as a leader of boy scouts he had tramped
over the terrain. Fortunately he was unfamiliar with the Cox map
and the conclusions of historians. He began to collect affidavits
from old settlers, and to present his findings to the Payne County
Historical Society. He was encouraged by the president, Berlin Basil
Chapman of the history faculty of the Oklahoma Agricultural and
Mechanical College, who felt that all possibilities should be ex-
plored before the case was closed. The historians were incredu-
lous, but Melton's persistence forced them to reexamine their evi-
dence. Then they realized that except for the Cox map, the Yale
site was as reasonable as the Keystone. Finally at the request of
the present writer and through the agency of Dr. Chapman, the
Research Foundation of the college procured a photostat of a state-
ment made by the Confederate Creek leaders in 1868.10 This docu-
ment had lain in the files at Washington, and had never before
been examined by Oklahoma historians. And strangely enough it
built up a strong case for the Yale site.

At a meeting of the Payne County Historical Society on March
6, 1949 Dr. Chapman presided over a panel discussion in which
Dean Trickett and James H. Gardner, Tulsa historians, Miss
Wright, Mr. Melton, and the present writer presented their find-
ings. No conclusion was reached; but Ola J. Rogers, longtime resi-
dent of Cleveland, presented the first evidence of an exact loca-
tion of the Keystone site. The Society, therefore, adopted a resolu-
tion advocating the most extensive publicity in an attempt to un-
cover additional data. As a part of this policy the writer was re-
quested to sum up the evidence so far amassed.11 The present paper
is the result of this request.

The first question is: What did the Union Indians want? This
may have a bearing on their subsequent movements. Fortunately
this is easy to answer. The evidence is complete and overwhelming
that they were determined to remain neutral. James Scott, an aged
Creek who had been ten years old at the time of the exodus, ex-
plained it thus in 1937:12

"Opuithli Yahola's heart was sad at all the war talk. He visited the
homes of his followers or any of the Indians and gave them encouragement
to face all these things, but above all things to stay out of the war. It was
no affair of the Indians."

The Shawnee, Thomas Wildcat Alford, who heard the Civil
War story told and retold in his childhood, wrote of the decision

10 The National Archives (Washington), Records of the Office of Indian Af-
fairs, Letters Received, Choctaw, C-676/1868 (Enclosure), Statement relative to the
Exodus of Ho-poith-la-yo--ho-la and his followers from the Creek and Cherokee
Country in the fall and winter of 1861 and '62. Cited hereafter as "Statement.

11 For copy of resolutions see Stillwater News-Press, March 7, 1949.
12 Phillips Collection, University of Oklahoma (Norman), WPA Project S-14

Interview with James Scott, March 29, 1937. Cited hereafter as WVPA Project S-1'
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anade by the Shawnees, Delawares, Kickapoos, Piankashaws, and
others living in the western part of the Creek country:13

"This is no fight of ours. It is between the whites-no good comes to

us from war-let them fight their own fight."

This is the way it appeared in 1862 to Baptiste Peoria, who
was sent from the Osage agency in Kansas to investigate the situa-

tion :14

"A good many Indians complained . . . . that they were compelled to

dig up the hatchet and fight their Great Father, after they had agreed to

remain neutral . . . . Opothleyoholo said he would have nothing to do with

it . - . [He] warned them over and over again that bad white men were

getting them into trouble."

A stronghold of this "Loyal" faction was on the southwestern
Creek frontier near the present Holdenville. Here the Creek town
of Talasi formed an agricultural community at the mouth of the
Little River; and James Edwards, a white man married to a Creek
woman, kept an important trading post there. The famous mixed-
blood Cherokee scout, Jesse Chisholm, had married Edwards'
daughter, and from this place and a post he had established far-
ther up the South Canadian near the present Asher, he carried
on his trading ventures with the wild tribes of the Southwest. A
few miles above Edwards' trading post, near the present Sasakwa,
was a Shawnee settlement. Far up the river near the present
Purcell, a band of Delawares had settled under the leadership of
the great scout, Black Beaver.1 5

H-ere in the West away from the pressure of their Confederate-
dominated governments the "Loyal" leaders met and called an
inter-tribal council of their faction. Micco Hutke of Talasi and
Bob Deer and Joe Ellis, Shawnees, then made a perilous journey
to Kansas in September, 1861, where for the first time they man-
aged to make contact with Federal officials. They carried an oral
message' 6 from the council and a letter-dated August 15, 1861-
from Opothle Yahola and Oktarharsars Harjo (usually known as
Sands), second chief of the Creeks in the Canadian River District,
who had refused to join the South with his tribe. The letter car-
ried a desperate appeal for the protection promised the Indians
in their treaties with the United States :17

"Now I write to the President our Great Father who removed us to
our present homes, & made a treaty, and you said that in our new homes
We should be defended . . . . and should we be injured by any body you

13 Thomas Wildcat Alford, Civilization (Norman, 1936), p. 6.
14 Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1862, p. 174.
15 Alford, Civilization, p. 1; T. U. Taylor, Jesse Chisholm (Bandera, Texas,

1939), pp. 26-29; W. B. Morrison, "Fort Arbuckle," Chronicles of Oklahoma, VI
1928 ), 27. For location of Talisi see Frank Gouldsmith Speck, "The Creek In.lans of Taskigi Town," Memoirs of the American Anthropological Association (Lan-

caster, Pennsylvania), II (1907), Part 2, map.
16National Archives, Indian Affairs, Creek 1861/B787.
7 Ibid., 1861/B484.
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would come with your soldiers & punish them. but now the wolf has cornemen who are strangers tread our soil. our children are frightened & themothers cannot sleep for fear . . . . . We . . . . want you to send us Wordwhat to do. We do not hear from you & we send a letter, & we pray you toanswer it"

The answer they carried back was written by E. H. Carruth
a former educator among the Seminoles, who had been connis'
sioned by Senator Lane of Kansas to negotiate with the Indian
tribes. It stated: "I am authorized to inform you that the President
will not forget you. Our armies will soon go South and those of
your people who are true and loyal to the Government will be
treated as friends.'"18 Sands, Micco Hutke, Bob Deer, and sonle
Seminoles and Chickasaws-also from the western frontier--then
managed to make their way again through that faction-torn bor.
der with a second appeal for help. This time they were willing to
join a Federal expedition to drive out the Confederates. As Sands
expressed it through his interpreter :19

"Wants to get with U. S. Army so that I can get back to my people ... .
Wants the Great Father to send the Union Red people and Troops down
the Black Beaver road and he will guide them to his country and then all
his people will be for the Union-That he cannot get back to his people
any other way-. . . . At the time I left my Union people I told them to
look to the Beaver Road until I come. Promised his own people that the
U. S. Army would come back the Beaver Road and wants to go that way-
The way he left his country his people was in an elbow surrounded by
secessions and his people is not strong enough against them for Union and
that is the reason he has come up for help."

All these actions have an important bearing on our problem.
Sands' reference to the "Black Beaver Road" is clear. When the
Union garrisons had abandoned the military posts in the Indian
Territory at the beginning of the war, they had called on that
intrepid Delaware to guide them to Kansas. They started from
a place near the present Minco and cut north across the prairie
on the approximate route of the present U. S. Highway 81. This
apparently' was the trail followed by the "Loyal" delegates to
avoid interception..

In the 1930's Thomas Ulvan Taylor of the University of Texas
engaged in the most careful research on the life of Jesse Chisholm.
From surviving members of the family he learned that in 1861 the
famous scout conducted a company of Union Indians from the
area between the two Canadians in the present Pottawatorle
Seminole, and adjoining counties. Word was sent out through a
the settlements and the Indians flocked to the meeting place near
his store at the old Chisholm Spring, two miles east of Asher. The)
loaded their possessions on pack horses or on travois made by at
taching a platform on trailing poles fastened to each side of the

18 War of the Rebellion, First Series, Vol. VIII. p. 25. r.
19 National Archives, Indian Affairs, Special Files, No. 201, Southern SuPe

intendency, 1861/C1400.
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pony. At least seven members of Chisholm's own family were in
the exodus. They stopped at the present site of Wichita, Kansas,
where a creek still bears the name of Chisholm.2 0

Taylor talked with a few survivors of the journey in 1939,
but unfortunately he did not learn what route they took. Did they
cut straight north toward the Arkansas? There is some slight in-
dication on Cox's map that they did. In that case they would have
passed close to the Twin Mounds. Or did they turn west to the "Black
Beaver Road"? This seems the more probable. Jesse Chisholm had
a third trading post at Council Grove, on the North Canadian about
six miles west of the present Oklahoma City ;21 and it is known
that a group of Shawnee and other Indians who fled to the north
early in 1863 made their rendezvous there.2 2 And when Chisholm
returned to the Indian Territory at the close of the war with a
stock of goods for the Council Grove trading post, he followed the
faint trace of the "Black Beaver" route."3

But whichever track they traveled, it is clear that the Con-
federate occupation had driven the "Loyal" faction to the ex-
treme western edge of civilized Indian settlement. One cannot
tell from the story of Taylor's informants whether their flight
preceded or followed the greater exodus under Opothle Yahola.
The latter was already in motion when Sands was pleading for
reinforcements down the "Beaver Road." And there is evidence
that this party, too, was driven far to the west.

In the council with United States officials at Fort Smith at
the close of the war, Sanford Perryman was the spokesman of
the "Loyal" Creeks. In summing up their case he said, "we com-
menced moving out west for tur safety, trusting in the Great
Spirit for protection, and hoping also that He would send us aid
through the means of our Great Father at Washington.24 Eight
years later John B. Jones, United States agent to the Cherokees,
informed the Commissioner of Indian Affairs: "They tried to avoid
a fight, to make their way peaceably to the union army in Kansas,
by a far western route."25 Neither of these men would have been
likely to refer to a journey from the mouth of the Deep Fork to

20 Taylor, Jesse Chisholm, pp. 177-79, 184, 192.
21 Ibid., pp. xviii, 25.22 Alford, Civilization, pp. 6-8.
23 Taylor, Jesse Chisholm, pp. 193-94, statement by James R. Mead, the founder

of Wichita, who was Chisholm's partner and accompanied him on the trip; Thoburn
and Wright, Oklahoma, I, 311, on authority of George Chisholm, adopted son of

esse, who also was in the caravan. These freighters' wagons left a scar on thePririe deep enough to guide the first cattle drives from Texas to the railhead at
Ailene, Kansas; and the "Black Beaver Road" thus became the famous Chisholm
rail of the cow country. See Jesse Chisholm, pp. 83-84.2 Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1865, p. 328.

note Quoted by Abel, The Amercian Indian as Slaveholder and Secessionist, p. 268,
floe
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the mouth of the Cimarron through the heart of the Creek settle.
ments as a movement "out west" or "a far western route." Perryman in fact had grown up at Tulsa.

There is little doubt, however, that one large group did gather
at the mouth of the Deep Fork. Opothle Yahola's home was in the
vicinity, north of the present Brush Hill community, and a dense
settlement of his compatriots lay between the North and the South
Canadian. James Scott and other elderly Creeks interviewed in
the late 1930's distinctly stated that there was a mobilization camp
there.26 But Scott himself belonged to Greenleaf Town, a settle-
ment south and southwest of the present Okemah, 27 and his people
made their rendezvous farther up the rivers. He remembered the
events very clearly :28

"I did not fully realize or understand why I was given orders to round
up the cattle. I wondered at the vast amoupt of cattle being killed and the
meat being dried, the pork being cooked down . . . . At all the homes of
the neighbors, I saw all sorts of preparations . . . . As time passed, the
neighboring Indians gathered and joined with the other Indians at Helluby
[sic.] Creek, northwest of what is now Boley.

Scott then went on to tell how the two camps merged:

"We were joined by other groups and we in turn joined other larger
groups. These were the Indians that Opuithli Yahola had mobilized near
the junction of the North Fork and the Deep Fork of the Canadian River,
near the present town of Eufaula. . . . . I was given the task to help drive
the cattle, but I relinquished my job over to the older boys when we joined
the main body."

Where was the union effected? Historians relying on the Cox
map have assumed that the party from the west moved down to
join the great camp at the mouth of the Deep Fork. But exactly
the opposite could have occurred. The lower Deep Fork was un-
safe. On August 1 or 2, Albert Pike, who had negotiated the Con-
federate treaties with the Indians, had authorized the Creek cit-
izen, James M. C. Smith, to raise and command a company of
Creek volunteers to be stationed at North Fork Village, at the
present Eufaula "to act as a police force, watch and apprehend dis-
affected persons, intercept improper communications, and prevent

26 WPA Project S-149, James Scott; Joe M. Grayson, September 24, 1937. The
writer has a similar statement made by Robert Kelley.

27 Ibid., Katie Williams, June 26, 1937. This informant stated that after the
war "those Indians that had parted came together again" "on the very spot where

the present Greenleaf Indian Baptist Church is located"-on Section 21, Townsh1P

11 North, Range 9 East. A less exact location is given in Speck, Taskigi Town'

map.
28 Malucy Bear, an aged woman of Greenleaf Town, also stated in 1937 that the

gathering took place on Hilluby Creek-Ibid., Malucy Bear, October 25, 1937.

194



The Site of the Battle of Round Mountain, 1861

the driving of cattle to Kansas."2'' This company was raised soon

after, and apparently for some time it remained in the vicinity.
No wonder the "Loyal" Creeks had been driven to the far west

for the forwarding of their "improper communications" with the

Federal officials in Kansas. It would seem to have been even more

essential to move their herds and their families north by the same
circuitous route. And now the Payne County Historical Society's
''new" document from the Government archives supports the view

that the lower camp moved up the Deep Fork, or at least that the

two groups met each other half way.

This is a sworn statement made at Washington by Smith, D.
N. MIcIntosh, who commanded a regiment of Creek volunteers, and
Tim Barnett, a prominent mixed blood, who operated a trading
house near the present Wetumka."0 One cannot accept all their
arguments, for their statement was prepared to defeat certain
claims of the "Loyal" faction; but they were participants in the
events they related, and certainly familiar with the locations in-
volved. 31 Their account begins:

"About the first of August, A. D. 1861, Ho-poith-la-yo-hola commenced
gathering his people into Camp on North Fork of Canadian, a few miles
above Thlobthlocco or Greenleaf Town in the Creek Nation. The 'Talk.'
put out among the people was, that the Country would soon be over-run
by a great army from the North, which would sweep over it like a besom
of destruction: that the 'Old Chief' would lead his people, with their flocks
and herds, into the Wilderness, westward, out of the track of the army;
where they could remain in peace and safety until the storm of war should
be over."

The statement goes on to tell how Colonel Douglas H. Cooper,
the Confederate commander, went to the C'reek council ground,
near the present Council Ifill, and that messages passed back and
forth between him and the "Loyal" party in a futile effort to
make peace. 32 "This was about the 1st of October 1861." An at-
tempt was made to hold "a friendly council" at Thlobthlocco,
neighbor town to Greenleaf; but when the Southern delegates ar-
rived there, "It was ascertained that Ho-poith-la-yo-hola had moved
his Camp to some point above the 'Big Pond,' near the head of
Deep Fork of Canadian."

29 War of the Rebellion, First Series, Vol. VIII. 719-22, Pike to J. P. Benjamin,Secretary of War of the Confederate States, December 25, 1861.
30 At least that is implied in the Cox map; and it is known that he owned a

trading house there immediately after the war-Angie Debo, The Road to Disappear-'nce (Norman, 1941), p. 202.
31 Three prominent Cherokees also signed the statement, but their knowledge

the events was restricted to a later phase of the campaign-"Statement," p. 10.

32This statement is supported by Cooper's official report, War of the Rebellion,
0  Series Vol. VIII, p. 5; a letter from Chief John Ross of the Cherokees to

I1p°ihle Yahola and his associates, September 19, 1861, Chronicles of Oklahoma,(1924), 170-172; and WPA Project S-149, Minda G. Hardin, March 25, 1937.
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This certainly refers to the Little Deep Fork rather than thDeep Fork, for the "Big Pond" was about six or seven miles south
east of the present Depew.33 Opothle Yahola's route in cutting
across the country to this new location can only be conjectured
so far as the writer knows, there is no record of an established trail
in that direction. 34 Apparently for part of the distance he followedup the Little Deep Fork, for a Euchee named Willie Tiger quotedhis grandfather as saying that the Euchees joined him at a Unobi
lization camp near the present Slick.35

Cooper then moved up to "Brown's Creek near Sells' Store, on
the North side of Deep Fork"-a location that has not yet been
determined-and attempted again to negotiate. Then he moved up
the stream to Opothle Yahola's camp, "but found it deserted and
a large trail leading in a Northwestward direction toward the Red
Fork of the Arkansas, apparently a week or more old. This trail
was followed, and finally on the 19th day of November 1861, Ho-
poith-lo-yo-hola's Camp was discovered a few miles North of Red
Fork near a place called 'Round Mountains' in the Cherokee Coun-
try.'"

This certainly makes the Twin Mounds a most probable site.
True, they were not in the Cherokee country. The boundary, which
had been fully surveyed in 1849-50 and apparently was well known
to the Indians, followed the present Payne-Pawnee County line.
But the meaning seems to be that the camp near the Round Moun-
tains was in the Cherokee country-which is in complete accord
with Yale neighborhood tradition.

When Cooper made his official report of the campaign in
January, 1862, he made no attempt at exact location.36 He said
that on November 15 his forces,

".... in all about 1,400 men, were moved up the Deep Fork of the Canadi-
an of Hopoeithleyahola's forces. The camp, which had been abandoned, Wa
found, and the trail from it followed . . .. until the 19th of the moith namEd,
on which day some of the disaffected party were seen and a few prisoners
taken. From those prisoners information was obtained that a portion of
Hopoeithleyohola's party were near the Red Fork of the Arkansas River,
on their route towards Walnut Creek, where a fort was being erected, and
which had for some time been their intended destination in the event of
not receiving promised aid from Kansas before being menaced or attacked.

One should not strain a point here, but it can be noticed
that Walnut Creek in Southern Kansas is almost straight north .0
Yale. Probably Cooper was mistaken about Opothle Yahola's 1n'

33 Muriel H. Wright has identified this location through her researches into the

history of the Euchee Indians-.lae
34 See for example the trails marked in War of the Rebellion, Atlas, Plste

CXIX and CLX.
35 WPA Project S-149, Willie Tiger, February 24, 1937.
36 War of the Rebellion, First Series, Vol. VIII, p. 5.
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tended destination-the "Loyal" Indians actually moved east into

the Cherokee settlements-but he naturally judged it from the

location in which he found them.

In 1923 the reminiscences of Captain June Peak of Dallas were

published in the Dallas Morning News. A white man who fought
ith the Texas troops, he knew very little about the Indian Ter-

ritory background, but he seemed to remember some of the circum-

stances of the campaign. Peak said that Cooper moved his com-

mand to "Dwight Mission southwest of Fort Gibson"-probably
a reference to Tullahassee Mission, northwest of Fort Gibson."

Here rumors came in of large concentrations of "Osages" in the
northwest; and Cooper sent Peak and nineteen other picked men

out that way on a scouting trip. They left camp about September

1, and marched up the Arkansas "several hundred miles as far as

the Big Bend."

One would like to establish a positive location of this "Big
Bend" or "Horseshoe Bend" of the Arkansas. It is often mentioned
in contemporary accounts. There was a Cherokee community there
at least as early as 1852, which was usually referred to as "Ski-
atooka's settlement.' '38 Later in the campaign Cooper made "a
forced march" from this settlement to Tulsa in one day. There was
an important Osage trail leading to it from Bird Creek."9 These
references indicate the bend near the present Cleveland; and this
inference is supported by the testimony of Mr. Rogers and of Judge
Redmond S. Cole of Tulsa. When Mr. Rogers came to the vicinity
in 1895 there were a few old apple trees in the narrow valley east
of the river at the present Osage and old settlers said they had been

37 Colonel Douglas H. Cooper's activities in the spring and summer of 1861,
during the organization of the Confederate military forces in the Choctaw and the
Chickasaw nations, indicate that Captain June Peak's reference to "Dwight Mission"
was an error for Asbury Mission, the location of which was southwest of Fort
Gibson, about 1% miles northeast of present Eufaula in McIntosh County, formerly
Within the boundaries of the Creek Nation. (See editorial note on "Personal Remi-
niscences of Captain June Peak," Thoburn and Wright, Oklahoma: A History of
the State and Its People, Vol. II, p. 836.) Asbury Mission or Asbury Manual Labor
School, a Creek boarding school under the supervision of the Methodist Episcopal
Church South, and North Fork Town located less than a mile away were important
places in the activities and operations of the Confederate interests in the Indian
Territory during the spring and summer of 1861. The Creek Treaty and the Choc-
taw-Chickasaw Treaty, in the alliance of these nations with the Confederate States,
were both signed at North Fork Town on July 10 and July 12, 1861, respectively.June peak as a boy of sixteen years was a member of the Texas Volunteers, or-ganized by Captain William C. Young of Sherman, that had a part in the taking
of Fort Washita by the Confederate troops in April, 1861. Later, Peak joined
Colonel Cooper's regiment as it proceeded north from the Choctaw and the Chick-Tsaw nations into the Creek Nation. Asbury Mission was near the main traveled
Teas. Road and certainly would have offered a most convenient and comfortable

ping place in the midst of friends for Colonel Cooper and his men before his
Ark camp headquarters were established at Concharta on the south side of the

ansas River, in the Creek country.-Ed.

38 Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1852, p. 403.
F'ar of the Rebellion, First Series, Vol. VIII, pp. 12-13.
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planted before the Civil War. This seems to establish a pre-a
Cherokee settlement; for those Indians had to surrender that po
tion of their land immediately after the war, and the Osages, who
succeeded them, would not have planted orchards. Judge Cole
who is associated with the Gulf Oil Company, states that when h
came to Tulsa in 1923, oil men generally referred to the field i
the loop of the river west of Cleveland as the Big Bend.40

From this well known place on the Arkansas, the scoutingparty turned south. They learned of a large force being organized
several days' ride to the southwest by Opothle Yahola, "an Osage.'"
They accordingly marched into the "Osage" country, under pre-
tense of searching for Kickapoos and Lipans. There they were
"very courteously received and pleasantly entertained, though
we were not fooling Opothyola." They then returned and reported
to Cooper, who immediately started in pursuit of the Union leader.

In spite of its geographical and ethnological impossibilities,
this account does place Opothle Yahola in approximately the same
location as the Smith-McIntosh-Barnett statement. When Cooper
learned that the Union Indians were concentrating at some dis-
tance to the southwest of a "Big Bend" in the Arkansas River
above Tulsa, he certainly would not have sought them at the mouth
of the Deep Fork.

One should be able to deduce the probabilities of Opothle
Yahola's route and the place of the Red Fork crossing from the
recognized trails of the area; for the blackjack-postoak jungle that
covered it must have made difficult going for a large company
of men, women, and children with their loaded wagons and herds
of cattle. Washington Irving found it even for men on horseback
like traveling "through forests of cast iron." But unfortunately
our knowledge of pre-Civil War trails is incomplete.

Opothle Yahola could have followed a known trail to the Key-
stone site. There was an old Osage hunting and war trail leading
south from the mouth of the Cimarron River; and in 1834 the United
States had blazed a military route-which was never used-in the
same approximate direction to the mouth of Little River.41 On the
other hand the present writer has found no direct evidence of any
pre-Civil War trail passing the Yale site. There was a favorite

buffalo hunting ground on the prairie west of the present Cush-
ing, but the trails leading to it have not been traced.

40 Ola J. Rogers and Redmond S. Cole to Angie Debo, Personal Intervip
Stillwater, Oklahoma May 26, 1949. The white homesteaders designated the 1er-

of the river west of Ralston as the "Big Bend," but this apparently had no reference to an early Cherokee settlement by that name-Paul V. Boone to Angie Deb0,
Personal Interview, Stillwater, May 26, 1949. Tul,'

41 James H. Gardner, "One Hundred Years Ago in the Region of
Chronicles of Oklahoma, XI (1933), p. 773.
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There is, however, some slight indication that the Twin Mounds

were accepted in those early days as a recognized landmark. In

1848 Lieutenant Abraham Buford with a company of dragoons

had explored a wagon route to Santa Fe along the north side of

the Cimarron, following in the Yale vicinity the approximate route

of Highway 51. This road was never used; but it was shown on

the Government map of the Creek-Cherokee survey. Here west

of a creek and just south of the trail is one conspicuous round hill

in the exact location of the Twin Mounds on Salt Creek.42

In the years immediately following the Civil War the impor-

tant Shawnee Cattle Trail from the Texas ranges to the Kansas

railheads passed through the vicinity. It derived its name and its

approximate route from an earlier trail to a Shawnee settlement

south of the Canadian. Contemporary maps show it passing about
six miles west of the mounds and three or four miles west of the
supposed battle site.43 By 1883 the maps showed another trail from
the Sac and Fox agency in the vicinity of the present Stroud to
the Pawfnee agency at Pawnee and on to Kansas; it followed up
Salt Creek east of the mounds, and passed about two miles east
of the supposed battlefield." Homesteaders who came a few years
later remember a trail crossing the Cimarron almost directly south
of the mounds, skirting them on the west, and veering slightly
west of north to cross Salt Creek by an old ford at the exact tradi-
tional battle site.45 A completely grassed over trace is still visible
over the bank north of the ford. Thus with all these north-south
routes crossing the area, it is at least probable that a pre-Civil
War trail lay in the vicinity.

The various accounts of how the two forces met seem hope-
lessly confused. The first known report of the fight is found in a
letter to Chief John Ross of the Cherokees by Moty Canard and
Echo Harjo, the legally constituted chiefs of the Creeks. These
inen, of course, headed the government that had made the Con-
federate alliance, and from which Opothle Yahola's faction had
Withdrawn its support.48 It is fairly certain that both had been
With Cooper during the engagement. The letter was written from
Coneharty--north of the present Haskell-to which Cooper's forces
had retired immediately after the battle; and the date is Novem-
ber 25, the day after they arrived.

This letter states that Echo Harjo went into the camps of his
estranged tribesmen the evening before the battle and talked with

f2 House Executive Documents, 35 Cong., 1 Sess., No. 104, map, "Boundaryof the Creek Country."
tory., Commissioner of the Land Office, Annual Report, 1876, map, "Indian Terri-

'4 lbid 1883.
S. T! Affidavits in possession of John H. Melton: Andrew Little, April 23, 1949;

Kerby, May 1, 1949.
Debo, The Road to Disappearance, pp. 124, 143-47.
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them in an effort to make peace; but they repelled his overture
(more probably his threats) and stated that they were relying o
help promised by the Cherokees. As for the fight itself we are toldonly that it took place "at Red fork," and that the chiefs were
very unhappy over the fratricidal strife.47

James Scott remembers that Opothle Yahola's moving coluih
was first ordered to halt by a McIntosh slave.4 8

"He rode the length of the wagon train issuing these orders. Many of ourmen answered, 'We are not going to stop; we are on our way.' The negro
had accomplished his duty and returned to his comrades. Seeing that we
could not be detained, our pursuers made the attack. The attack was made
on a hill side and I would not know where this hill is now or about where
it was. Our women, children, and some of the men were sent on with the
wagons, teams, and cattle. The rest remained to check the attack. The nen
hid behind the bushes, trees, and large rocks. The enemy making the up-
grade attack could not successfully accomplish anything. Our men gave
the chase and returned with a captured flag. I have no knowledge of the
results of obtaining the flag or what became of it."

Captain Peak, whose errors of fact almost disqualify him, as
a witness, says that as Cooper was marching against Opothle Ya-
hola, the latter, "who was by no means destitute of scouts, kept
himself informed as to our movements and he came to meet us.
We met early one morning in October at Round Mountain. The
day was spent in skirmishing, without any losses or advantage to
speak of on either side."49 The statement of the Southern Creek
leaders after relating the discovery of the enemy camp near "Round
Mountains," goes on to say:

"Here a Company of Texans, without orders, rode after dark into Ho-
poith-lo-yo-ola's Camp, and were driven out by his men and followed to Col.
Cooper's Camp, with the loss of their Captain and several others killed,
several wounded and taken prisoners. The hostile Creeks and Seminoles
were there repulsed and made their escape under cover of the darkness." 50

Cooper's official report states that "After crossing the Red
Fork it became evident that the party was near and the command
was pushed rapidly forward." Here the question occurs: If the
crossing had been at a recognizable place on the river such as its
mouth, would he not have stated that fact? He does describe the
terrain, and strangely enough he does not mention mountains or
even hills.

"About 4 o'clock p. m. some camp smokes were discovered in front a

short distance and the enemy's scouts seen at various points. A charge
was ordered to be made by the detachment of Texas cavalry . . .• upon the

47 Unfortunately this document cannot be quoted; it belongs to an irporan
collection not yet open to the public.

48 WPA Project S-149, James Scott. of
49 "Personal Reminiscences of Captain June Peak," Oklahoma: A History

the State and Its People, Vol. II, p. 836.
50 "Statement," p. 3.
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,p which, however, was found to have been recently deserted. Other scouts,
being discovered beyond the camp, were pursued by the Texas troops about 4

miless , when they disappeared in the timber skirting a creek, upon which it

as afterwards ascertained the forces of Hopoeithleyohola were then en-

camped. While searching for the fugitives the troops were fired upon by

the concealed enemy, and 1 man was killed. The enemy immediately ap-
peared in large force, and our troops, rallying and forming, succeeded in

aking a stand for a short time, when the efforts of the vastly superior

force of the enemy to outflank and enclose them caused them to retire
towards the main body of our forces."

Meanwhile, "So soon as the firing was heard at the posi-
tion of the main body the Choctaw and Chickasaw regiment was
formed and advanced towards the enemy.'" By this time the "ex-
ceeding darkness of the night rendered the relative position of
our foes and friends uncertain,'" and the two forces advanced
within sixty yards of each other before they opened fire. A "short
but sharp conflict" followed, during which the Choctaws and
Chickasaws were reinforced by Texans and Confederate Creeks.
They fought dismounted and thus suffered few casualties, but
"many" horses were hit. Then "the firing of the enemy ceased,
and under cover of the darkness he made good his retreat." Cooper
then sent a detachment of Texans and Choctaws "to examine the
ravine in front and on the flanks, when it was found that the enemy
had left the field and retreated in the direction of their camps.... .
Soon after daylight on the 20th the main camp of the enemy was
entered, and it was found that they had precipately abandoned
it."51

Captain M. J. Brinson of the 'Iexas detachment that first en-
gaged Opothle Yahola's forces wrote his report six days after the
battle, but it yields no additional details. Captain R. A. Young of
the Choctaw-Chickasaw regiment-whose report is dated Novem-
ber 30-adds a "prairie," which "was on fire at my right" as
he advanced from the Confederate camp to meet the Union In-
dians.52 Captain Peak also remembers a prairie and a fire. After
the day's skirmishing they "went into camp for the night on a
level prairie, covered with sedge grass waist high, beginning to
dry considerably." They made a corral with their wagons and
placed their horses and mules inside; but about one o'clock they
found themselves surrounded by fire, while the enemy was"rain-
ing bullets and arrows into our confused rout." They abandoned
all their provisions, "a dozen or so wagons, scores of mules, and
fifteen or twenty dead and wounded men" as they hastily retreat-
ed to "Dwight's Mission.''53

War of the Rebellion, First Series, Vol. VIII, pp. 5-6.
c 2 Ibid., pp. 14-15. The editor of this compilation (War of the Rebellion, Offi-
the Record) erred in placing a second report of Young's here; the latter refers toSecond battle.5 "Personal Reminiscences of Captain June Peak," op. cit., Vol. II, p. 836.
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Thus we have the terrain from eye witness accounts: "Round
Mountains" marking the location but untouched by the fighting;
a creek skirted with timber, where the Union Indians were camp.
ed, and where the Confederates were repulsed; a ravine "in front
and on the flanks" and a prairie, where the two forces met in
the darkness close to Cooper's camp; and-if a boy's memory can
be trusted-a hillside with "bushes, trees, and large rocks." And
since the identification must depend partially on the debris of the
battlefield, the losses also must be noted.

Peak's "fifteen or twenty" Confederate casualties shrink to
six men killed and four wounded in the chiefs' letter to John Ross.
and the same number are listed by name and rank in Cooper's of:
ficial report. The Southern Creek statement adds "several wound-
ed and taken prisoners" by Opothle Yahola's warriors when they
drove the Texans back from their camp. Their bodies were found
when the abandoned camp was entered the next morning; "and
from appearances, [they] had been tortured, and their skulls
mashed by the squaws with their hominy pestles." Probably there
is no truth in this atrocity story; certainly Cooper does not name
these victims in this casualty list. As to the Union losses, the two
Creek chiefs reported conservatively that "several" of the enemy
had been killed. Cooper, anxious to claim the victory in an in-
decisive engagement, swelled this estimate to "about 110 killed
and wounded." He also found in Opothle Yahola's "precipitately
abandoned" camp "the chief's buggy, 12 wagons, flour, sugar,
coffee, salt, &c., besides many cattle and ponies." Wiley Britton,
whose Indian Territory military service in the Union army did
not include this campaign, followed Cooper's report rather closely'
in The Civil War on the Border, but when he came to this incident
he reduced the spoils to "a few old ponies and broken wagons,
which were worthless."'54

Both parties claimed the victory, but both withdrew immedi-
ately from the vicinity. Cooper arrived at Concharty on the 24th,
a date that rules out neither the Keystone nor the Yale site. The
march from the latter place seems difficult but not impossible.
One can give him five days by assuming that he left in the morning
and arrived at night. He believed Opothle Yahola was on his way
to Kansas, but the old leader, apparenty reluctant to leave the In-
dian country, sought refuge with his Cherokee friends. The route
he took rules out the Keystone site if we are correct in locating
the Big Bend at Cleveland; for according to the Southern state-

ment he "crossed the Arkansas and moved down" to that settle-

ment.55 As Sanford Perryman put it, "We . . . . resumed our jour-
54 Wiley Britton, The Civil War on the Border (New York and London, 1890)

pp. 164-67. To compare with the account he wrote from his own knowledge gee
Memoirs of the Rebellion on the Border, 1863 (Chicago, 1882), p. 440.

55 "Statement," p. 4.
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ney north, and crossed the Arkansas, and camped in the Cherokee

nation. "56 He could have followed an established route; as early

as 1843 there was a well known "Osage crossing" just above Cleve-

land, and an important hunting trail following up a creek-ap-

parently Hellroaring Creek-to the west a few miles and then

turning south.
57

Cooper soon moved from Concharty up to Tulsa. Opothle

yahola moved from the Arkansas to "Shoal Creek" (Hominy
Creek), the Confederates worked around to their north, and a

second battle was fought at a known site on Bird Creek. The rest

of the campaign has no relation to the place of the first engage-
ment.

This disposes of all known accounts from those who were pres-
ent at the battle. Other evidence comes from the traditions and
relics found at the sites.

There are numerous "Round Mountains" and creeks in the
vicinity of Keystone. Here Mr. Rogers' location is based on the
testimony of the late J. C. Byers, who came to the present Osage
County in the early 1870's, and who always showed a keen and
intelligent interest in local history. In 1876, he said, he found
remains of wagons near the high round hill in Section 13, Town-
ship 20 North, Range 8 East, and believed it to be the battlefield."8
Another hill in the vicinity could account for the plural-"Round
Mountains"-and a creek fits Cooper's description of the terrain.
The location-three miles north and six miles west of Keystone,
and northwest of the great loop of-the Cimarron-is far enough
up the river to account for the failure of contemporary writers
to mention the mouth, and yet close enough to harmonize with
the Cox map.

One cannot disregard Byers' testimony simply because it
stands alone. And there is even the possibility that more may be
obtained. But thanks to Mr. Melton's indefatigable efforts more
evidence has been collected to support the Yale site. The most
convincing comes from the Pawnees, who settled there when they
acquired the land from the Creeks and Cherokees in 1876.

Thomas Pratt, now eighty-seven years old, remembers "that
many years ago" his uncle, Little Chief, told him if he "would go
to Salt Creek at the place of the ford'" he "would find many
things." He "did that" and found "various iron pieces," such as

parts of stoves, wagon irons, cooking things, lying near the

56 Commissioner of Indian Affairs, Annual Report, 1865, p. 329.
O W. Julian Fessler (editor), "Captain Nathan Boone's Journal," Chronicles of

Olahoma, VII (1929), p. 66.
h Ola J. Rogers to Angie Debo, Personal Interview, Stillwater, Oklahoma

arch 6, 1949.
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creek,'" and "similar things for about ½ mile southward from,the rocky ford along the north side of the creek." His uncle toldhim "that during the fight that had occurred there .. . . the peoplewho had wagons and camp things had pushed their enemy back
to the south-fighting all the way to the little branch located on
the north side and at the base of the Twin Mounds and that
they had fought among the rocks of this little creek." The old
man knows nothing of the Civil War or of Opothle Yahola, only
that his uncle had known "some of the Indian Scouts who ac-
companied the soldiers at the time of the battle." 59

T. S. Kerby, an eighty-four-year-old white pioneer, who still
lives on his farm near the Twin Mounds, came to the Pawnee res-
ervation early in 1893 to assist the Indians in improving their
farms. "Early one morning in about the last week of August just
before the opening of the Pawnee lands for white settlement,"
he and a well-known Pawnee named Nelson Rice stopped at the
home of another Pawnee, John Brown, who lived near the Salt
Creek ford. "During our brief visit . . . . Rice pointed to the flat
low-land bordering Salt Creek on the north just east of the ford,
and made the statement that that was where the big fight was, to
which John Brown agreed, and they told me then that an Indian
fight had occurred there during the Civil War. I did not ask them
what Indians were fighting.''60

Other white men connected this Indian tradition of a battle
with the known fact of Opothle Yahola's exodus. Andrew W.
Little, a Cushing attorney, remembers the story told by his father,
William R. (Billy) Little, who came to the vicinity in 1880 and
worked as a cowboy on the Pawnee reservation. Part of the time
he was employed by the United States agent, Major Edward Hale
Bowman-whose daughter he eventually married-to take charge
of the cattle issued to the Indians. He and his cowboys lived in
a log cabin just north of the Twin Mounds. Here he said that he
discovered:

"At a place on Salt Creek . . . . about four miles Northwest of the
. . . . Mounds and near the border of Payne and Pawnee Counties, but in
Pawnee County, many pieces of broken wagons, metal tires used on wagons,
metal harness buckles, pieces of broken dishes and pottery, iron cooking
utensils, indian bows and arrows, bones apparently of human beings, and
numerous other articles, and between this place and the Twin Mounds a
few of such articles were found."

Little reported his discovery to Major Bowman. Bowman in-
vestigated for himsef and then instructed Little to bury the bones'
and gather up a wagon load of the irons to be used in the Govern-
ment blacksmith shop at the Agency. When his young employee
asked for an explanation, Bowman told him a story very laC
curate in detail, but definitely linking the site with Opothle Yahola.

59 Affidavit in possession of John H. Melton by Thomas Pratt, April 16, 1949'
60 Ibid., by S. T. Kerby, May 1, 1949.
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Years later Bowman told the same story to Andrew Little, his

grandson.61 A fight, he said, had occurred there
i. . . . during the early part of the Civil War, when a band of Creek

Indians who were in Texas, and sympathetic to the Union Forces [had been]

chased out of Texas by Texas Rangers and Rebel Indians; that this Band
under Chief Opoethle Yahola . . . . crossed the Cimarron River South

of the . Twin Mounds and camped some few miles distant on Salt

Creek, . . • their pursuers being some miles behind; that during the night

the Creek scouts posted on the Twin Mounds, and South, reported that

their pursuers, Texas Rangers and Rebel Indians were getting close and

that they expect a battle soon; . . . . that during the battle which followed,

commencing the next morning when the Creeks were attacked . . . . that

the Creeks were defeated . . . . many being killed and wounded, and those

who survived fled North to Kansas."

When the white homesteaders came to the site in September,
1893, they found the same tradition, but so far it has been impos-
sible to trace it to any firsthand knowledge. W. E. Hohimer, now
deceased, attempted it in a letter he wrote in 1928 at the age of
eighty-two to the Oklahoma Historical Society. He had talked
with Billy Little, and his account of the battle is substantially
the Bowman-Little story; but he located the battlefield on the
authority of the Creek citizen, "Goob" Childers, whom he had
known at Red Fork, now a part of Tulsa, in 1887.62 It is probable
that Childers was with Opothle Yahola's party, but he died in
1885,63 and even disregarding this discrepancy in dates, it would
have been difficult for Hohimer to identify the place from a con-
versation at Tulsa.

But when the settlers describe tie relics they found at the
site, they are on safer ground. 64 Even now one can find fragments
of dishes, thick ironstone china highy colored with blue; pieces
of cast iron cooking pots; crockery, sometimes showing the handle
or neck of a jug; wrought-iron nails; perhaps a rusted lock from
a chest or trunk, even the barrel of a musket.65 These are on both
sides of the old ford on Salt Creek. Here is an ideal location for
the main camp of Opothle Yahola, the camp from which the
Texans were driven back at the beginning of the battle, the camp
which Cooper found abandoned the following morning. A few
artices have been found on the mounds themselves, a few lying
between; these, however, are probably no more numerous than

612Ibid., by Andrew W. Little, April 28, 1949.

Melt A copy of this letter, dated May 29, 1928, is in the possession of John H.
63 Indian Journal (Muskogee, Indian Territory), August 27, 1885.

1964 Affidavits in the possession of John H. Melton: R. H. Murphy, March 17,
19; John Jackson Atteberry, December 27, 1948; Robert Z. Carlisle, December 29,48; Roxy Mae May, February 21, 1949; Harriett M. Bishop, March 19, 1949.
rae frequent mention of "pottery" in these accounts apparently refers to crockery,er than Indian pottery.

6 5 The writer visited the site May 2, 1949 with Mr. Melton and Mr. Harold
s'Straughn of Stillwater. The field west of the creek was freshly plowed, and manyuch fragments were exposed.
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one could discover in any rural area in Oklahoma. Several graves
found by early settlers on the mounds are accounted for by the
fact that the Pawnees had a burial place there after they settledin the vicinity.66

One would surmise that Cooper's camp was near the ravine
that skirts the north side of the mounds; and the fighting that
James Scott remembered could have taken place among the huge
rocks along its sides. But if there were bones of horses on the prai.
rie where the Confederates finally drove off their pursuers, or if
there is even a modicum of truth in Peak's report of abandoned
wagons, the remains were not impressive enough to attract notice.

Most of the accounts of the early white settlers contain a
tradition of buried treasure.- According to the story told to Billy
Little by Major Bowman, the Union Creeks "had been paid a
large sum of money in gold coin by the Government while in
Texas," which they hid before the battle. Andrew W. Little
remembers that "back in about 1900 quite a party of men, my
Father being one of them, made quite a search to locate it." An.
other old resident recalled "that strange indian would come here
and go to the vicinity of the Twin Mounds and dig and search."87

Improbable as this legend seems, it does help to connect the
site with the Creek exodus; for there is a persistent Creek tradi-
tion that Opothle Yahola did in fact start out with a large sum
of money, which he buried somewhere along the route.68 One can
state positively that he had not received any recent payment from
the United States. The regular annuities to his tribe had been
cut off by the war; and in any case they would have been paid
to the constitutional Creek government, not to an influential
private citizen. He might have buried some money of his own,
for in happier days he had been a very rich Indian; or he might
even have buried some money entrusted to him by humbler tribes-
men. As to the place, that is lost in the mists of time.

The present writer does not feel the same uncertainty about
the location of the battlefield. For the Keystone site we have only
the Cox map and the supporting evidence of Mr. Rogers, but for
Yale we have the eye-witness account of the Southern Creek leaders,
a formidable list of probabilities and inferences, a somewhat con-
fused tradition by Pawnee and white settlers unfamiliar with the
history, and impressive remains of an important camp ground.
To this one historian at least, the evidence is conclusive.

66 Interview with S. T. Kerby by John H. Melton, Harold W. Straughn. an
Angie Debo, May 2, 1949. Mr. Kerby was employed in digging the Pawnee grave

67 Letter from Andrew W. Little to John H. Melton, November 8. 1948.
68 WPA Project S-149: Minda G. Hardin, March 25, 1937: Mary Gra

July 22, 1937; Joe M. Grayson, September 21, 1937. It is possible that this tra
tion of a buried "treasure arose from the fact that several of the Creek toe.
buried sacred objects used in their ceremonials, before they set out on their exi
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